STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred in permitting the otherwise inadmissible hearsay testimony regarding alleged statements by the sole witness, Inecia McNeil, a two-year-old child, as an excited utterance. The trial court further abused its discretion by failing to ascertain the competency of the child regarding the alleged statements that identified Mr. Eubanks as the perpetrator, thus denying his fundamental right to confront witnesses against him, and
- II. The trial court erred in granting the state's *Motion in Limine* as to prior abuse of the children by their mother, Deyasha Johnson, for it essentially deprived Mr. Eubanks of his fundamental right to present a defense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Darrius Eubanks was arrested and charged with capital murder in connection with the death of Daviyon Johnson, 4, on November 21, 2003. CP 6. The underlying felony was commission of the murder while engaged in felonious child abuse, all in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. § § 97-3-19 (2) (f) and 97-5-39(2). CP 6.

Mr. Eubanks was subsequently tried by a jury of his peers on July 25, 2005, before the Hon. Tomie T. Green, Circuit Judge. On July 26, 2005, the jury found Mr. Eubanks 'Guilty' of capital murder. CP 100; 101; RE 11; 12; T. 334. The trial court then sentenced Mr. Eubanks to life imprisonment without possibility of parole in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. RE 12; CP 100; T. 335.

Following denial of all post-trial motions, Mr. Eubanks sought appellate review of his conviction and sentence which is now before this honorable Court for evaluation. CP 107; 116.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of November 19, 2003, both Deyasha Johnson, and her companion of nearly six months, Darrius Eubanks, were off from the jobs at the International House of Pancakes, and looking forward to a day catching up on household chores and moving furniture into their apartment at 1595 West Highland Drive at Highland Square Apartments. T. 174; 177; 178. Mr. Eubanks' name was on the lease for the apartment, which he shared with Johnson and her two children, Daviyon Johnson, 4, and Inecia McNeil, two (2) years and eleven (11) months old. T.

174; 200. Mr. Eubanks was not related by blood or marriage to the children, although they referred to him as "daddy." T. 189.

The pair, in the apartment for about a month, had no telephone. T. 174; 179. Therefore, after doing laundry, Johnson telephoned her aunt about the availability of a family member's truck to move furniture later in the day. T. 178. Johnson discovered, however, that her grandmother was critically ill at Central Mississippi Medical Center, less than ten minutes away from her new home. T.178; 179. Johnson found a friend to drop her off at the hospital, then returned to their apartment to change clothes and ask Mr. Eubanks to watch the children as he had so often before. T. 179. Eubanks agreed and Johnson left for the hospital. She was gone six hours, finally returning to the apartment about 6 P.M. T. 181.

Johnson testified that she entered the apartment and called to her children, going up the hallway to their bedroom. There she found Daviyon lying on the floor, Mr. Eubanks beside him and her daughter, Inecia, standing against the wall, "scared," Johnson testified. T. 182. She asked Mr. Eubanks what was wrong and he said "I don't know." T. 182. Johnson walked on into their bedroom, telling her son to get up. T. 182. When Daviyon failed to respond, Johnson went back into the bedroom of her children. T. 182. Mr. Eubanks picked Daviyon up and the child was, as Johnson put it, limp "like a raggedy ann doll." T. 182. Johnson testified she took Daviyon and into the bathroom, where she saw bruises on him. T. 182. Johnson then she went to the apartment of a neighbor, to telephone her mother and aunt and asked them to take her and Daviyon to CMMC. T. 182.

During this time, Johnson testified she asked Mr. Eubanks what had happened. He told Johnson that the children had both reverted from their potty training and fouled their clothing. T. 182. Johnson also testified that Mr. Eubanks told her Inecia had hit Daviyon with a stick used to secure the apartment patio door before maintenance personnel repaired the door. T. 183; 195.

Johnson testified that Daviyon had feces all over him, although he was fully dressed. T. 183. She removed his pants, underwear, socks and shoes and washed him thoroughly, wrapped him in a blanket and threw on a coat to meet her mother at the door. T. 183; 184-185. Mr. Eubanks, she testified, said he would remain and clean up the apartment; he did not accompany them to the hospital. T. 184.

Johnson took her daughter to an upstairs neighbor, Emma Robinson, and left for the nearby CMMC. T. 183.

Once there, Johnson testified CMMC could not stabilize Daviyon and about an hour later sent him by ambulance to the University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMC). T. 185. On her way to UMC, Johnson went to pick up her daughter, Inecia. T. 186. During the ride to the hospital, nearly two hours after Johnson had returned home, she testified she asked Inecia what happened. T. 188. Johnson testified at trial, over vehement objections regarding hearsay from the defense, that Inecia responded Mr. Eubanks hit "Doc" [Daviyon's nickname] with a stick and that he had hit her as well. T. 188 -189. Johnson testified Daviyon's heartbeat was maintained by machine at UMC; on Nov. 21, 2003, she removed her son from life support. T. 190. The cause of death was closed head injury as a product of blunt

force trauma, according to Dr. Stephen Hayne, who conducted the autopsy. T. 263; 285

Jackson Police Department child protection officers were called to investigate suspected abuse of Daviyon on November 19 and observed the boy at UMC as medical personnel worked with him. T.205; 221. Police returned to the West Highland Square apartment that night with Johnson, who gave written permission to conduct a search. T. 225. During the search, Johnson identified a stick in the living room as having been used to reinforce the patio door lock. T. 195. The stick was recovered as evidence on Nov. 21, 2003. T. 255. Also based on conversation with Johnson, police issued a warrant for the arrest of Mr. Eubanks, who voluntarily came to police for an interview. T. 224; 226; 229.

Law enforcement officials' testimony of Mr. Eubanks' oral statements differs markedly, however. Officer Harvey Davis of the child protection unit testified that Mr. Eubanks said first that he heard a loud scream and went in to find Inecia hitting Daviyon with the stick. T. 208. Davis testified Mr. Eubanks told them that he had hit Daviyon with a belt because he had written on the wall, and then that he confessed he did not know what had happened because he had smoked marijuana and drank beer. T. 208; 212-213. Davis testified that Mr. Eubanks said he had been playing with the children, tossing Daviyon into the air and allowing him to fall back onto the mattress. T. 211. But, Davis testified, the child's mattress was on the floor and testing it later said that such play would result in a hard landing. T. 211. Mr. Eubanks also explained that he and Daviyon had played a punching game with Mr.

Eubanks punching the child in the shoulder area, but not anywhere below the shoulder. T. 211.

Davis was forced to acknowledge on cross-examination however, that he failed to include several statements by Mr. Eubanks, including reference to the supposed statement that he did not know what had happened because he was smoking marijuana and drinking beer. T. 214, Exhibit D-9.

Detective Eric Smith, who was present during virtually the entire interrogation, also denied in his testimony that Mr. Eubanks said he could not remember what happened. T. 244. Smith did, however, recall Mr. Eubanks said he was under the influence of beer while watching the children.

Although police recovered the stick which appeared to have stains resembling blood and although police made numerous photographs of the stains in the children's bedroom, there was no testimony at trial as to whether samples were taken of substances on stick or substance on the walls or whether, when, where and by whom such samples may have been tested or any results of such testing. T. 239. No fingerprint evidence was introduced, nor any other potential weapon used to inflict many of the injuries upon Daviyon, including any object such as a coat hanger capable of making the "linear strikes" Hayne referred to in his testimony. T. 273.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Eubanks respectfully submits that the trial court erred three ways in admitting hearsay statements allegedly made by a nearly three old child to her mother in which the child identified Mr. Eubanks as the one who beat her brother on Nov. 19, 2003. The statements were not spontaneous, the touchstone of what constitutes an excited utterance. Even if the statement was found to be an excited utterance, the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to make any preliminary evaluation of Inecia's competence, nor even to compel the appearance of the child for an assessment of her ability to remember and discern the distinction between right and wrong. Finally, the child never appeared to testify, so Mr. Eubanks was denied his right to confront the statements made against him, an error of fundamental constitutional proportions.

Mr. Eubanks also contends it was an error of fundamental proportions to grant the prosecution's *Motion in Limine* that barred him for demonstrating to the jury that Deyasha Johnson, mother of Daviyon Johnson, could have been responsible for injuries to her son. The inability to demonstrate prior bad acts of the mother regarding possible prior abuse of the children deprived him of his right to a meaningful opportunity to present a defense.

ARGUMENT

Cases of violent death, in which someone has been killed either deliberately or negligently, always present difficult circumstances for courts who must maintain objectivity in the face of human emotion. In such instances, it may be especially difficult to maintain the necessary objectivity when the death involved is that of a small child; however, it is incumbent upon trial courts in our system of justice that they maintain neutrality and enforce adherence to the rules in spite of any circumstances.

Mr. Eubanks respectfully asks this honorable Court to review the matters assigned as error herein, as he believes the trial court committed fundamental and reversible error that require a new trial on the charge lodged against him.

Before trial, defense counsel filed a *Motion for Competency Hearing and Motion in Limine* to ascertain the competence of Inecia McNeil, the only eyewitness to the events of Nov. 19, 2003. CP 19; 32-33. At a pre-trial hearing on the issue, despite objection by Mr. Eubanks as to the use of highly suspect statements of a two year old child, the prosecution did not make available the child to the trial court nor, apparently, did the trial court even require the presence of the child. T. 7; 47; 187; RE 14; 16.

The trial court's error in admitting "back door hearsay" through the mother, Deyasha Johnson is a three-fold error. First, the alleged statements failed to meet the spontaneity requirement of Mississippi Rule of Evidence [MISS.R.EVID] 803(2) as Inecia volunteered nothing, but only responded to her mother's question. T. 41. Second, the trial court abused its discretion by failing to ascertain the competency

So.2d 691, 698 (Miss. 2005) our Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded a murder conviction due to the admission of witness testimony that the mother of Brooks told a witness three days after the murder her son had confessed committing the crime on the night of the murder. In holding that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the double hearsay testimony as an excited utterance, the Court found the three-day span between the son's alleged confession and the mother's statement to the witness removed it from consideration as an excited utterance. The Court quoted the Comment to Miss.R.Evid. 803(2): "The essential ingredient is spontaneity." Id. at 698. In contrast, when finding the statements qualified as "excited utterances," the trial court declared that neither spontaneity nor excitement was required in order to meet the excited utterance standard. Instead, the exception merely required that the child be under stress and that fact was established by the testimony of the mother.T.49.

Even if the statement rose to the level of an excited utterance, Mr. Eubanks contends the trial court was under a duty to determine the competency of the child and her recollection of events. Mr. Eubanks acknowledges that under MISS.R.EVID. 601, all persons are presumed competent to give evidence. Mr. Eubanks also acknowledges the determination of whether a child is competent to testify is a matter of court discretion. Nevertheless, Mr. Eubanks argues the trial court erred in relying upon the testimony of a psychologist who had not seen Inecia since Dec. 8, 2003, who opined that requiring the child to appear in court to testify would be "fairly anxiety producing." T. 19; 23. According to Woulard v. State, 832 So.2d 561, ¶

11 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002), questioning a seven-year-old witness to establish "a present ability to remember events, to understand and answer questions intelligently and to comprehend and appreciate the importance of testifying truthfully" satisfied the trial court's responsibility under MISS.R.EVID. 601. *Id.* In so doing, this Court relied upon *Bailey v. State*, 729 So.2d 1255 (¶ 20) (Miss.Ct.App. 2001) as requiring the prosecution to satisfy competence concerns by asking the child preliminary questions which did not go to the substance of the child's proposed testimony. *Woulard*, 832 So.2d 561 (¶9).

But perhaps most analogous to the case at bar is *Bell v. State*, 928 So.2d 951 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006). In *Bell*, the two daughters of David Bell did not testify at the trial of their father for the stabbing death of their mother, Charity Ishman. The trial court permitted police officers who questioned the girls after their mother's body was found to testify as to what the girls said and their identification of their father as the assailant under the excited utterance exception.

The *Bell* case was reversed because Bell was unable to confront his daughters who identified him as the assailant and placed him at the scene of the crime under the authority of *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2006). Bell did not confess to killing the mother of his children. The prosecution had no other eyewitnesses. This Court found the statements of Bell's daughters were testimonial in nature, given in response to police interrogation during investigation of the crime and therefore, the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, required reversal and remand.

In the case at bar, Inecia McNeil, four and a half years old at the time of trial, did not testify, nor did she even appear for a hearing to determine competency. The statements admitted through her mother Deyasha Johnson were in response to questions to the child and therefore, were not spontaneous or otherwise volunteered under immediate stress as the rule requires.

Mr. Eubanks would thus respectfully move this honorable Court to reverse and remand his conviction based on the fatally prejudicial admission of statements by Inecia McNeil through testimony of her mother which failed to meet any applicable hearsay exception and violated his fundamental right to confront witnesses presented against him.

The trial court erred in granting the state's *Motion* in *Limine* as to prior abuse of the children by their mother, Deyasha Johnson, for it essentially deprived Mr. Eubanks of his fundamental right to present a defense.

The Constitution guarantees citizens accused of crimes "a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 at 689-690 (1986). In Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006), the U.S. Supreme Court held that South Carolina evidentiary rules could not be applied to bar Holmes, accused of capital murder, from presenting evidence that a third party may have confessed to the crime of which he was accused. The rule at issue was the South Carolina practice of prohibiting evidence a third party was criminally responsible in the face of strong forensic evidence indicative of the defendant's culpability. In the case of Holmes, DNA evidence suggested his guilt and the trial court barred testimony showing another could have committed the crime.

In this case, the trial court granted the prosecution's *Motion in Limine* (CP 27-28) to bar as irrelevant any mention of prior accusations against Johnson for abusing her children. T. 65; RE 15. Mr. Eubanks respectfully suggests the trial court erred, for it is entirely possible that presented with evidence of past abuse, the jury might have found that Daviyon's injuries were incurred *before* 11 A.M. the day of Nov. 11, 2003, when his mother was still present. This is a logical inference to draw, as the trial court also granted the prosecution's *Motion in Limine* to bar any mention of the fact that Johnson no longer had custody of her daughter. CP 27; 40; T.62; 65; RE 15. In fact, Inecia McNeil was in foster care and had been since the death of her brother. T.32-33. Johnson had apparently not seen her surviving child since the November 2003.

Relevant evidence is such evidence "having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probably or less probable than it would be without the evidence." MISS.R.EVID. 401. The *Comment* to the rule states, "[i]f the evidence has any probative value at all, the rule favors its admission."

In this instance, Mr. Eubanks would humbly assert that it was an abuse of discretion to grant the *Motion in Limine* by the prosecution to bar exploration of whether Johnson may have participated in the abuse of her child. The jury never heard such facts and contrary to contention by the prosecution, it is particularly relevant when dealing with the guilt or innocence of one accused of a capital crime. Any possible confusion of the issues could easily have been cured by appropriate limiting instructions by the trial judge.

Therefore, Mr. Eubanks would move this honorable Court to reverse and remand his case for a new trial in order to admit such evidence.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Eubanks respectfully asserts that the trial court committed grievous error, fatally prejudicial to his fundamental right to a fair trial, when it failed to determine the competency of the child, Inecia McNeil, as to statements allegedly given the night of Nov. 19, 2003. In addition, it was error to find that Inecia's statements in response to questions from her mother were excited utterances admissible through an exception to the ban against the use of hearsay. Finally, the trial court in admitting the statements violated the right of Mr. Eubanks under both Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to confront witnesses against him. The trial court also abused its discretion in granting a *Motions in Limine* that prevented Mr. Eubanks for presenting any evidence of prior bad acts of the mother, Deyasha Johnson, in abuse of the children.

On the basis of the authority cited herein, Mr. Eubanks humbly beseeches this honorable Court to reverse and remand this cause for a new trial.