## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## **DARRIUS EUBANKS**

1

## APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1201

## STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

## BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

## OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601)359-3680

##

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court did not err in allowing the testimony of Inecia McNeil pursuant to the excited utterance exception to Rule 801 M.R.E. The trial court held that the Inecia was still under the stress of the event when her mother came to pick her up about two hours after Daviyon was found. The mere fact that the statement, as in this case, was in response to an inquiry, though bearing on the question of spontaneity, does not necessarily take a responsive statement outside the realm of admissible excited utterances." *Barnett v. State*, 757 So.2d 323, 330. Further, Eubanks' counsel narrowed his objection to hearsay since Inecia was not going to testify at trial and the testimony of the psychologist provided the court with ample indicia of Inecia's competence.

The trial court is predominately vested with the discretion to decide whether evidence is relevant and admissible. *White v. State*, 742 So.2d 1126 (Miss.1999). The trial court correctly granted the State's Motion in Limine to as to alleged prior abuse of the children by their mother Deyasha Johnson because such evidence was irrelevant and inadmissible. Eubanks is not entitled to present inadmissible evidence to prove his theory of the case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The trial court did not err in allowing the testimony of Inecia McNeil pursuant to the excited utterance exception to Rule 801 M.R.E.

Eubanks asserts that the trial court erred in admitting the statements made by Inecia McNeil, age 2 years and 11 months, to her mother, Deyasha Johnson, within two hours of her mother's return to the their apartment as excited utterances. The record reflects that on November 19, 2003, Deyasha Johnson left her two children, Inecia McNeil, age 2 years and 11 months, and Daviyon Johnson in the care of her boyfriend, Darrius Eubanks while she went to the hospital to visit her Grandmother who was gravely ill. She left home at around 11:00 a.m. and returned at 6:00 in the evening. Johnson testified that the children were healthy when she left home that morning. When she returned home, she found Daviyon unconscious and laying on the floor. Inecia was standing near the wall and not moving, staring at her brother. Johnson was unable to revive her son. She took him in the bathroom and discovered that he had bruises on his body. She called her mother to return so that she could take Daviyon to the hospital. He was soiled with feces and Johnson removed Daviyon's clothes, cleaned him, wrapped him an a blanket and took him to the hospital.

Johnson left Inecia with a neighbor while she took Daviyon to the hospital. She returned to get her Inecia at about 7:30 p.m. When she got Inecia in the car, she asked her what had happened. Inecia replied, "Daddy hit [Daviyon] and he hit me." Inecia further told her mother that Eubanks hit Daviyon in the head with the stick a lot of times. Daviyon started crying and Eubanks did not stop hitting him. Then Daviyon stopped crying and he didn't move no more [sic]. Inecia became quiet and did not resume talking for about two days. Inecia, a usually

bubbly child, became very stand-offish, did not want to get out of her mother's lap, did not want to talk and did not want to interact with anyone. She appeared terrified and did not want to be separated from her mother.

The trial court allowed the statements that Inecia made to her mother shortly after the discovery of Daviyon. He ruled that Inecia was still under the stress of the event at the time she made the statements. (Tr. 50)

Hearsay statements are excluded under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 801(c), which defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." However, Mississippi Rule of Evidence 803(2) provides for an exception to the exclusion of hearsay evidence, namely a statement "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." The rationale for this exception is that one caught in a sudden, startling event lacks the capacity for calm reflection, tending to make such statements reliable. *Smith v. State*, 733 So.2d 793, 799 (Miss.1999). When evaluating whether a statement will qualify as an excited utterance, "it is important that there has been no intervening matter to eliminate the state of excitement and call into question the reliability of the utterance." *McCoy v. State*, 878 So.2d 167, 173 (Miss.Ct.App.2004).

Spontaneity is essential to admit a statement into evidence as an excited utterance. However, "[t]he mere fact that the statement, as in this case, was in response to an inquiry, though bearing on the question of spontaneity, does not necessarily take a responsive statement outside the realm of admissible excited utterances." *Barnett v. State*, 757 So.2d 323, 330 (Miss.Ct.App.2000). Where the alleged excited utterance is prompted by a simple question, even

from an officer, such as "What happened?" or "What's wrong?" the statement may still be held to fall under the exception. *Carter v. State*, 722 So.2d 1258, 1260 (Miss.1998). In *Bankson v. State*, 907 So.2d 966 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005), the Mississippi Court of Appeals head that a witness's statement upon being questioned by the police was still admissible as an excited utterance. The Court in Bankson ruled that since the witness was clearly still under the stress of the situation, his statements a law enforcement officer did qualify as excited utterances.

Whether a statement was made while under the stress of an event is a decision best resolved by the trial court in its sound discretion. *Davis v. State*, 611 So.2d 906, 914 (Miss.1992). The trial judge has discretion to either accept or reject evidence offered. *Austin v. State*, 784 So.2d 186, 193 (Miss.2001). Mississippi Appellate Court's will only reverse a trial court's decision when an abuse of discretion results in prejudice to the accused. *Id.* at 193-94 . Here, the trial judge found the testimony was admissible under Rule 803(2) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, as an exception to the hearsay rule. The record supports the trial court's decision since Johnson's testimony clearly established that Inecia was still under the stress of the event at the time Johnson asked her what happened. Johnson testified that Inecia, a usually lively child was very subdued and quiet and clung to her mother. Therefore, the trial court did not err in allowing Inecia's testimony. *Stokes v. State*, 797 So.2d 381, 386 (Miss.Ct.App.2001). This issue lacks merit.

Eubanks argues on appeal that even if Inecia's statements were excited utterances that the trial court was required to hold a competency hearing to determine if Inecia was competent to testify and if she could recall the events of November 19, 2003. However, during the hearing on pretrial motions, counsel for Eubanks waived or withdrew his request for a competency hearing.

The record reflects the following argument by Eubank's counsel:

The Court: Mr. Knapp:	And the objection by the defendant was? Your Honor, there are actually two or three motions that all centered around the same issue. Our position is, Your Honor that a two-year-old child is highly suspect in testimony. It's the province [sic] of the court to determine if a child is able to testify competently and make a decision at that point in time.
The Court:	Let me be sure, because you are saying two things. One is an issue of hearsay and then the other is the issue of giving testimony. Now what issue are we on with the child? Are we on the hearsay issue or are we dealing with the issue of the child testifying in court?
Mr. Knapp:	The child is not going to testify in court is my
	understanding, Your Honor, what I'm told. Your Honor, to
	some extent they blend a little bit. What I'm trying to
	show is I object to the hearsay testimony of the child.
	That's my motion.
The Court:	Right.
Mr. Knapp:	Your Honor, and part of my objection is that, one, I have a
тип. кларр.	right to confrontation, but also hearsay – with the child testifying is a little bit shakier than hearsay if an adult was talking. For example, if we're talking about a present sense impression or excited utterance, a lot of things that a two year old would say are excited utterances that aren't excited

(Tr. 7,8)

The State proposed to call Dr. Katherine Dixon at trial and to introduce into evidence her interview with Inecia some two weeks after the events of November 19, 2003. Dr. Dixon, a licensed psychologist, and the director of the Mississippi Children's Advocacy Center, testified that she interviewed Inecia. (Tr. 10) Dr. Dixon testified that Inecia identified Eubanks as the person who hurt her and her brother and that Eubanks hit her with a stick. (Tr. 17) Dr. Dixon

opined that Inecia was able to identify the person who caused injury to her and her brother and that she did so in an age appropriate manner. (Tr. 10, 19) Dr. Dixon assessed Inecia's credibility as good for the information she produced. (Tr. 24) The Trial Court then viewed the video tape of the Dr. Dixon's interview with Inecia.

The Trial Court ruled that Dr. Dixon's testimony and the videotape were inadmissible, since they did not qualify as excited utterances. However, the Trial Court reviewed the circumstances of the statement's made by Inecia less than two hours after her mother came home and discovered Daviyon's condition and heard testimony from Johnson about the circumstances of Inecia's statements.

Any argument that Inecia's testimony is unreliable because of her age was waived by defense counsel's statement that he his objection was to the hearsay testimony of the child. (Tr. 7, 8) His objection to hearsay presumes the competency of the witness making the statement. Had he wished to challenge the competency of the child, he would have requested a competency hearing, which he specifically declined to do. (Tr. 7, 8) Further, the Trial Court did have the benefit of hearing from a licensed psychologist who had interviewed the child and had assessed her ability to relate truthfully the events of November 19, 2003 and to identify the person who harmed her brother and herself. This certainly provided the Trial Court with ample indicia of the competence of the child where no competency hearing has been requested. This issue is without merit and the ruling of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

II. The trial court correctly granted the State's Motion in Limine to as to alleged prior abuse of the children by their mother Deyasha Johnson because such evidence was irrelevant and inadmissible.

The State moved in limine to exclude allegations by proposed witnesses about the way Deyasha Johnson treated the children. The Stated argued that the statements were irrelevant because the alleged events happened prior to the day of the actual crime. (Tr. 65) There was a further motion for the Defendant to exclude a prior complaint of child abuse against Eubanks. The trial court ruled that unless there was a reason given to indicate a connection between the alleged prior acts of the Eubanks or Johnson with the occurrences of November 19<sup>th</sup>, the testimony was irrelevant and would be excluded. The Trial Court instructed the parties that if there were evidence that was connected to the events of November 19<sup>th</sup>, they could raise it at the appropriate time. (Tr. 67) Eubanks argues that he was entitled to present the testimony of witnesses who alleged that Johnson mistreated her children. However, he did not raise the issue in his case in chief and did not proffer any testimony to show that it was in any way related to the death of Daviyon on November 19, 2003. Eubanks argues that he was entitled to present his theory of the case. However, the trial court is predominately vested with the discretion to decide whether evidence is relevant and admissible. *White v. State*, 742 So.2d 1126 (Miss.1999).

For example, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a trial court is not required to allow a proffered expert to testify solely because such testimony goes to a defendant's theory of the case. *Turner v. State*, 726 So.2d 117, 130 (Miss.1998). Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 charges the trial court with the role of "gatekeeper" in determining whether an expert's testimony is both relevant and reliable prior to allowing it to be presented to a jury. M.R.E. 702 cmt.; *Giannaris v. Giannaris*, 960 So.2d 462, 469-70 (Miss.2007).

Further, in *Blocker v. State*, 809 So.2d 640 (Miss. 2002), the Mississippi Supreme Court opined:

Blocker now contends that evidence as to the crack house may have been enough to raise a presumption of reasonable doubt as to her involvement in the shootings. She also says that her Sixth Amendment guarantee of the right to compel witnesses to testify also includes the right to present her theory of defense. While we have upheld a defendant's right to present her theory of the case and have the jury instructed on it, there was no error here. Manuel, 667 So.2d at 593. The trial court was within her discretion in deciding to exclude this evidence. The crack house testimony, by itself, was probative of nothing. Had issues regarding the crack house been an integral part of Blocker's defense, all she had to do was make a proffer of what she intended to prove and how she intended to prove it. We have previously held that a trial court will not be reversed for limiting cross-examination where "no proffer was made of the testimony nor was a statement dictated into the record to indicate what was proposed to be shown by the examination." McGee v. State, 365 So.2d 302, 304 (Miss.1978).

## Blocker at 645-6.

Clearly, the trial court was correct in ruling that this testimony was irrelevant. Further, it was inadmissible pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. Where the testimony is inadmissible as irrelevant the defendant is not entitled to present the evidence in support of his theory of the case. This issue is without merit and ruling of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

## **CONCLUSION**

The assignments of error presented by Eubanks are without merit and the rulings of the

trial court should be affirmed.